IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC08-2148

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 8-1-90, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an Indictment charging the Appellant, OSCAR RAY BOLIN, JR., with the First-Degree Murder, Attempted Robbery, and Kidnapping of Stephanie Collins occurring 11-5-86. See § 782.04(1), Fla. on (1985)(first-degree murder); §§ 812.13(1) & (2)(c), Fla. (1985)(attempted robbery); and § 787.01(1)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (1985). (V1/R45-48) Mr. Bolin was found guilty of first-degree murder and false imprisonment on 10-10-91 (the attempted robbery was dismissed on a motion for judgment of acquittal), and he was sentenced to death on the murder conviction. (V4/R620, 626-631) Mr. Bolin was granted a new trial by this Court on 2-9-95 in Bolin v. State, 650 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1995), because the State had used Mr. Bolin's ex-wife's testimony at trial in viola-tion of the marital privilege. (V5/R804-813)

Mr. Bolin was retried, found guilty of first-degree murder and false imprisonment, and sentenced to death on 6-4-99. (V6/R1071-1136) On 7-13-01 this Court again reversed for a new trial, because the State had once again used Mr. Bolin's ex-wife's testimony in violation of the marital privilege. Bolin v. State, 793 So. 2d 894 (Fla. 2001). (V7/R1236-1247)

This appeal is from this Court's 2001 retrial order on Mr.

Bolin's third trial on this case. After this third jury trial, Mr.

Bolin was found guilty of first-degree murder (the State nolle

prossed the false imprisonment charges) on 11-2-06. (V8/R1519-1520;V9/R1689) Mr. Bolin was sentenced to death on 12-3-07. (V10/R1957-1962)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Trial Testimony

Stephanie Collins was 17 years old and in high school when she disappeared from an Eckerd's Drug Store parking lot on 11-5-86. Her body was found about a month later.

Stephanie's mother, Donna Witmer, lived with Stephanie in the Carrollwood area of Tampa in November 1986. Stephanie belonged to her high school choir and worked part-time at the Eckerd's Drug Store on the corner of Ehrlich and Dale Mabry. At 6 a.m. on 11-5-86, Ms. Witmer left for work, and Stephanie was getting ready for school which started at 8 a.m.. When Ms. Witmer got home at 5:30 p.m., Stephanie and her car were not there; but her books were on the kitchen table. Ms. Witmer went to the Eckerd's where Stephanie worked on 11-6-86 looking for Stephanie. She found Stephanie's car in the parking lot, and the doors were not locked. (V16/T340-344)

Kathy Cumpstone was a friend of Stephanie's in 1986. On 11-5-86, she went with Stephanie to Stephanie's home after school. They were at Stephanie's for only a few minutes, and then Stephanie took her home. Stephanie was then going to Eckerd's to ask for more work hours for the holiday season, returning home for a shower, and going to a chorus rehearsal. Stephanie was wearing a white V-neck sweater, tank top underneath, pink and white striped leggings, slouch socks, white Keds with studs, and gold chains; and she was carrying a pocketbook. (V16/T345-349)

The assistant manager at the Eckerd's where Stephanie worked part-time, saw Stephanie about 4 p.m. when she came into the store to ask about working more hours. He did not have the schedule at that time, but he did offer to let her work that night. Stephanie, however, could not work that night; because she had choir. They talked for about 15-20 minutes. (V16/T350-353)

Jerry Cooley, a friend of Stephanie's at school, went to the Eckerd's parking lot at 9 p.m. to say "hi" to Stephanie. Her car was there, but she never came out to her car. He waited about 15 minutes and left without seeing Stephanie. (V16/T353-356)

Hennie Moss, a friend and neighbor of Stephanie's, and David Fessler were driving to a store on 11-5-86 at about 4 p.m. when Ms. Moss saw Stephanie. Stephanie was in the front passenger seat of a plain white commercial van that was not new. Ms. Moss made eye contact with Stephanie, and Stephanie waved at her with both arms like she was trying to get Ms. Moss' attention. Stephanie appeared to be excited. Both the van and the car with Ms. Moss were stopped at the time at a 3-way stop. Ms. Moss pointed out her neighbor to Mr. Fessler as she waved back at Stephanie, and then Ms. Moss and Mr. Fessler kept going. She could not see the face of the van's driver; but he was taller than her (she is 5'1"), had brown hair, and looked older than her (she was 18 at the time). Where Ms. Moss saw Stephanie was close to the Eckerd's where Stephanie worked. Mr. Fessler took a quick look at the van when Ms. Moss pointed out her neighbor Stephanie, and he saw Stephanie in the passenger seat. He also got a very quick glimpse at the

driver—a white male, dark hair, white T-shirt, late 20's, medium height, slender build. Mr. Fessler only saw a quick profile of the driver's face. (V18/T657-679)

Michael Long knew Mr. Bolin and his wife Cheryl in 1986. Mr. Long socialized with the Bolins, his (Long's) brother, and his brother's wife. After Stephanie's disappearance on 11-5-86, but before her body was discovered, Mr. Long was at his brother's apartment for a barbeque and to watch football. The Bolins were there. A news broadcast came on about the missing girl; and Mr. Long said that if they found out someone hurt the girl, whoever did it should be castrated with a dull razor. Mr. Bolin all of a sudden got upset, stood up, was red-faced, and said Long did not know what he was talking about. Long didn't know the circumstances. Mr. Bolin was irate, and the Bolins left. (V18/T680-683)

At some point in 1985 or 1986. Mr. Long saw Mr. Bolin in the parking lot of his (Long's) brother's apartment, and Mr. Bolin was in a white Ford commercial van. Mr. Long knew Mr. Bolin had a 1986 Ford pickup truck, and Mr. Long asked Mr. Bolin where he got the van. Mr. Bolin said he was using it to move some stuff. Mr. Long believed the van belonged to a painter who lived in the same apartment building as his brother. Although Mr. Long first spoke to the police about this case in August 1990, this was the first time in 20 years he's ever mentioned Mr. Bolin in a white van that belonged to a painter and not Mr. Bolin. No one ever asked him if he saw Mr. Bolin driving another vehicle before about 1 month ago. (V18/T684-695)

Jimmy Garrison worked for Hillsborough County as a mowing crew supervisor in 1986. At about 9 a.m. or 12-5-86, he discovered a wrapped up body in a ditch by Morris Bridge Road while mowing the grass. Mr. Garrison called the Hillsborough County Sheriff. (V16/T356-361)

Deputy Karen Crockett was on patrol and responded to Morris Bridge Road. She observed a white-female body approximately 10-20 feet from the road in a ditch. It was not visible from the road. The upper half of the body was wrapped in a blanket, the legs were exposed. A purse was near the body. The body was very decomposed. (V16/T362-366)

Capt. Harold Winslett viewed the body at the scene. Everything that was wrapped around the body was preserved—a blanket, pink sheet, pink and white sheet, towel marked "Hospital Property," and a kitchen towel. He also collected the clothes and jewelry. At the autopsy he saw 5 holes in the back of the victim's shirt and some blunt trauma to the head. Capt. Winslett also went to the shopping center where the victim's car was found on 11-5-86. The doors were unlocked and the key was on the car floor. (V16/T373-393)

The State and Defense stipulated that the body of the female found in the area of Morris Bridge Road on 12-5-86 was that of Stephanie Collins. (V16/T439) It was further stipulated that the jewelry found on the body and the purse found by the body with all its contents belonged to Stephanie. (V18/T697)

Items obtained from Stephanie's body were sent to the FBI lab

in Virginia. (V16/T384) Agent Robert Fram with the FBI worked in the trace evidence unit where they conduct hair and fiber evidence. When he makes a microscopic comparison of hairs, he uses 2 microscopes side by side comparing the known hair with the unknown. He only compares head and pubic hairs as they are the only ones that show a difference between people enough to make a significant comparison. His lab received exhibits in the Stephanie Collins' case in 1987 and a known hair from Mr. Bolin in 1990. Agent Malone originally received the case, and a technician removed a hair from the towel found with the body for Malone to review. Although Malone analyzed these hairs, Agent Fram was asked to re-analyze these hairs. Agent Fram re-analyzed these hairs in 1998, and the head hair found on the towel from a brown Caucasian head was consistent with Mr. Bolin's hair. Agent Fram noted that hair comparison does not establish identity-it is not like a fingerprint. (V18/T570-582)

Agent Fram knew the lab was being investigated in the early 1990's, charges had to be made, and the lab was not accredited until around 1996. Malone left the lab in 1993 or 1994 and was not available for trial—although Agent Fram did not know why. Agent Fram did not handle the towel and the initial analysis, that was Malone. Agent Fram did cut off 3/4" from the root end and sent it off to the mitochondrial DNA unit to test. The hairs found in the victim's right hand were consistent with the victim's hair. (V18/T585-606)

Agent Fram knew that Malone was named in the report for

misconduct, because in 1985 Malone gave incorrect and misleading testimony in several aspects in a particular case. The report also said Malone falsely testified before the judicial committee that he had personally performed a test, that he had testified outside his expertise and had inaccurately testified about test results. The FBI was so concerned about Malone that they re-analyzed everything he did. Because Agent Fram did not put the hairs on the slide from the towel, he could not say for a fact that the hair on the slide is really from the towel. For Agent Fram to testify that a hair was found on that towel, he had to rely on Malone; and if Malone made an error or put something false in his notes, Fram would have no way of knowing. All he could do was look at the slides. And although a technician may have initially put the hairs on the slide, the examiner can go back to the evidence and get more hairs. If the examiner wanted to mislead the court or manipulate it, the examiner had the ability to do so. (V18/T606-625)

Agent John Stewart, a program manager and examiner in the FBI lab in Quantico, Virginia, works in the DNA Analysis Unit where they do mitochondrial DNA. People inherit two types of DNA—nuclear that comes from both parents and mitochondrial which comes from the mother. Mitochondrial DNA passes from the mother to all of the children, so each child will have the same mitochondrial DNA profile as the mother. It helps with missing person cases to get samples from siblings, mothers, and/or grandmothers to test against unidentified human remains. They did a mitochondrial DNA analysis on a hair sample in this case and compared it to a blood

sample from Mr. Bolin. They received the samples on 5-26-98, finished the analysis on 6-29-98, and did the report on 7-9-98. In looking at the hair found in this case and Mr. Bolin's blood, there were no differences in the mitochondrial DNA. Population genetic frequency—the most they would expect to see with this particular profile—is less than 1% of the population. Mitochondrial DNA does not degrade as fast as nuclear DNA. Mitochondrial DNA is just as reliable as nuclear DNA, but it's not as discriminating. (V18/T628-641)

Christopher Bastan, a statistician in statistical genetics, analyzes data relevant to genetical systems. He has testified as an expert in population genetic frequency and statistical genetics. He reviewed Agent Stewart's report regarding the match of the hair and blood for statistical purposes in this case. The hair is 916 times more likely to be from Mr. Bolin or a maternally derived relative than from a random person in the Caucasian population. (V8/T642-647)

The Medical Examiner, Dr. Lardizabal, had passed away by the time of Mr. Bolin's third trial; so his prior testimony was read to the jury. Dr. Lardizabal performed an autopsy on Stephanie Collins. He observed six slits or cuts to the back of Stephanie's sweater. These cuts were an inch long and probably caused by a knife. None of the organs or tissue or anything like that was left due to decomposition.

According to Dr. Lardizabal, the skull had been hit with a heavy metallic blunt object such as a hammer or pipe. The skull

was in 28 fragments. The most vital part of the brain was next to where the skull was fragmented, and to fragment this area is 100%-200% deadly. No one could survive this injury. Based upon an examination of the skull, Dr. Lardizabal opined that there were nine points of impact to the top and sides of the skull. The blows would have been quickly fatal. The individual blows would have caused immediate unconsciousness. There was no way to know whether the stab wounds took place before or after the head wounds. Blows to the head with head wounds bleed a lot. The victim's clothes were arranged normally, intact. He could not determine if there was sexual activity, because there were no sexual organs. (V16/T418-438)

The death certificate for Cheryl Jo Haffner/Cheryl Coby was placed into evidence. Ms. Coby died on 10-23-92. (V16/T417) As a result of her death, a redacted version of her 1991 trial testimony via video tape was played to the jury. Cheryl Jo Coby testified she was born on 9-1-57, was married 4 times, was presently separated from Danny Coby, and was once married to Oscar Ray Bolin from 2-11-83 to 4-89. Cheryl and Mr. Bolin had 2 children—Christopher who was born 12-31-85 and died within 40 hours, and Jared who was born in 5-26-87. Cheryl was a severe diabetic, and the complications with the pregnancies caused her to be hospitalized numerous times in 1986. Cheryl would often take items like towels and blankets from the hospital and bring them home with her. As a result of her diabetes, Cheryl was legally blind, had a heart condition, and had lost both legs in the last year.

(V16/T440-443)

While they were married, Cheryl and Mr. Bolin worked the carnival circuit. They returned to Tampa in late October 1986. They owned a Ford pick-up truck and had a travel trailer that they lived in. It was parked in a trailer park on North Nebraska Avenue in Tampa. Mr. Bolin was staying at the trailer and Cheryl had been staying with friends Paula Schaffer and Duane Cameron since they had arrived in town. Cheryl would go to the trailer from time to time, and she recalled taking a shower at the travel trailer during the afternoon of 11-5-86. (V16/T443-449,470)

On 11-5-86 Cheryl went with Paula Schaffer to a walk-in clinic and learned that she (Cheryl) was pregnant with her second child. Mr. Bolin did not want her to have another child, and the doctors had warned her not to get pregnant again because of the health risks. Cheryl and Paula went to a Waffle House restaurant around 6:00 p.m. on 11-5-86; and they met Ronnie and Duane there. Mr. Bolin arrived between 7:00 and 8:00 p.m.. Mr. Bolin sat down and ate a bowl of chili. Cheryl believed he acted like something was bothering him. Mr. Bolin asked if she was ready to leave, and Cheryl said she wasn't ready. A little later they left in the pick-up together and went to the trailer. (V16/T448-451,467)

When they reached the travel trailer, Mr. Bolin backed the truck up to the door. Mr. Bolin went into the trailer while Cheryl waited in the truck. Cheryl could not see inside the trailer as the curtains were closed and the door was shut. Mr. Bolin was in the trailer for 10-15 minutes; and when he came out, he had

something wrapped in her quilt tossed over his shoulder. He put the object in the back of the truck. Cheryl described her quilt and sheets and then identified the items that had been wrapped around Stephanie's body—her quilt, sheets, and towels including one she had brought home from the hospital. These items had been in the trailer in November 1986. Mr. Bolin went back inside the trailer for about 10 minutes. When he came out, he drove them to Morris Bridge Road. Mr. Bolin stopped the truck, got out, took the body out of the truck, and threw it in a ditch. Mr. Bolin backed the truck up to make sure the headlights wouldn't shine on it and it could not be seen. The two then returned to the trailer.

Cheryl went into the trailer and into the bathroom. Everything was wet—the floor, the ceiling, the cabinet doors. Cheryl saw blood on the curtains and wall. She saw a spot of blood on the carpet near the bed. She saw a butcher knife laying on the counter by the sink instead of in the drawer where it was normally kept, and the handle was wet. Cheryl did not see a heavy object in the trailer which could have been used to fracture a skull. (V16/T456-457,472)

Cheryl never saw Mr. Bolin driving a white passenger or commercial van around 11-6-86; and when he picked her up at the Waffle House on 11-5-86, it was in the silver and black pick-up truck. (V16/T466) Cheryl did not see a white van in the afternoon on 11-5-86, when she went to the trailer and took a shower. She never saw Mr. Bolin with Stephanie. (V16/T470,471)

Cheryl had become permanently blind when she was pregnant with her first son, so in November 1986 she could not see well at night and had problems distinguishing colors. But even though it was dark outside the trailer on 11-5-86, Cheryl said she could still see the color of the sheets. (V16/T467,473)

Cheryl did not tell anyone about this until Danny Coby asked her to marry him. Then she told Danny some things but not everything. She married Danny in April 1989, filed for divorce from Danny on 7-3-90; and Danny called Crime Stoppers on 7-12-90. (V16/T458,459,475) Cheryl was told that Danny had already collected \$1000 for calling Crime Stoppers, and the initial reward of \$5,000 had grown to \$63,000 if there was a conviction in the death of Stephanie. Cheryl had asked her attorney to inquire into collecting the reward money; and if there is reward money as a marital asset, she wants a part of it. Cheryl stated that Danny had done nothing to merit him collecting the reward, but she was still trying to collect the reward. Cheryl also stated she had a lot of outstanding medical bills in July 1990-loss of her legs due to diabetes, heart surgery, kidney problems. She had at least \$5,500 due in medical bills in July 1990, and she had not been able to work from 4-89 til 4-90. (V16/463-465,478-483)

Cheryl also stated that her young son Jared is the most important thing in her life. She had asked Mr. Bolin to give up his parental rights in the past. She also knew that one of the conditions of the reward was that the suspect has to be convicted of Stephanie Collins' death. (V16/T481,482)

Danny Coby's call to Crime Stoppers resulted in a visit from the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office. Cheryl initially told them nothing, because she wanted to call her parents first. After speaking with her mother, she went back to the officers and told them what she knew. In July and August of 1990, Cheryl came to Tampa to assist law enforcement. She took them where the body had been taken on 11-5-86. Det. King from the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office spoke to Cheryl Coby on 7-15-90. During her statement of what had happened, she never mentioned seeing a butcher knife with a wet handle. (V16/T459-461;V17/T489-501)

Colonel Gary Terry with the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office was supervising the Stephanie Collins' homicide investigation. On 7-22-91, Mr. Bolin attempted suicide and had left an envelope in his cell for Terry. Inside the envelope was a suicide note. (V17/T535,543-546) Although the note was not read during Terry's testimony, the prosecutor read part of it during closing argument: "...you'll haft (sic) to ask Cheryl Jo, because she knew just about Everything that I was ever a part of. ...she know (sic) about....[this]homicide....Because it was her ideal on how to dump [the body]...." (V19/T765;V11/R1994)

A detective with the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office searched for Mr. Bolin's 1986 pickup truck in 1990. The license plate number when Mr. Bolin had the truck was 724-BYL. (V17/T522) During closing argument, the prosecutor opened Stephanie's purse and pulled out a piece of paper that had "724-BYL Ray" on it. (V19/T570)

B. Penalty Phase Evidence

Mr. Bolin waived the jury recommendation part of the penalty phase. (V19/T832,833) Mr. Bolin also did not want to present mitigation, although a mitigation notebook was prepared by defense counsel and submitted to the trial court. (V20/T867-872)

1. State's evidence at Penalty Phase:

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