IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-2148 L.T. No. 90-CF-11833 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

opportunity to cross-examine Coby at Bolin's 1991 trial for the murder of Stephanie Collins, but a review of the record establishes that Bolin's defense counsel seized this opportunity and extensively cross-examined Coby regarding her observations and attacked her credibility.

When cross-examining Coby, Bolin's trial counsel elicited the following:

- Cheryl Coby divorced Bolin (her third husband), and married Danny Coby one month later (V16:462);
- that Coby stopped living with Bolin on November
 3, 1986, only days before the murder of Stephanie
 Collins and they had a strained marital
 relationship at the time (V16:463, 467-70);
- that at the time police spoke with Coby in July, 1990, Coby had substantial outstanding medical bills, was unemployed, and had financial difficulties (V16:464-65);
- Coby and Bolin owned a Ford F-150 truck and she never saw him driving a white van (V16:465-66);
- due to her health issues and pregnancy, Coby had poor vision and was legally blind (V16:467-73);
- questioned Coby on her statement to detectives in

July 1990, including her failure to mention seeing a wet butcher knife in the trailer after the murder and failing to see any heavy object that could have potentially been used to fracture the victim's skull (V16:472);

- questioned Coby extensively on her ability to see the colors of the sheets wrapping the body given her poor vision and questioned Coby on whether she assisted Bolin in disposing of the victim's body (V16:473-74);
- that Coby never told anyone about the murder for years until telling Danny Coby prior to their marriage (V16:474);
- Coby initially lied to detectives in 1990 when first questioned about the murder (V16:477);
- That Danny Coby received \$1,000 for calling Crime Stoppers and that Cheryl Coby was aware that there was potentially a large amount of reward money if a suspect was convicted of the murder; that the potential reward money was an issue in her divorce proceedings with Danny Coby (V16:477-83); and

• Coby had asked Bolin to give up his parental rights to their young son (V16:481).

As the record of the cross-examination establishes, Bolin had, and utilized, his opportunity to cross-examine the unavailable witness at his 1991 trial.

Bolin's argument that he was not given a "meaningful" opportunity to cross-examine Coby because her testimony had been redacted is simply without merit. Comparing the 1991 crossexamination of Coby's unredacted testimony to the 2006 redacted cross-examination demonstrates that defense counsel was not "so focused on the privileged communications" that he may have failed to develop other areas of cross-examination as alleged by Bolin. (V8-9:1584-1617; V16:462-85). The vast majority of the redactions to the cross-examination were 5½ pages dealing with the three different versions of the murder Bolin told his wife (V8:1594-1600), and one other dealing with Bolin's page statements to Coby. (V9:1603). After these redactions were removed, defense counsel's cross-examination focused on Coby's ability to observe Bolin's acts of placing the victim's body into their truck and dumping it off Morris Bridge Road, Coby's observations inside the trailer of blood on the carpet and blinds and everything in the bathroom being wet, including the floor, ceiling, and doors. Trial counsel also attacked Coby's

credibility given her marital discord with Bolin and her financial motive to report the crime in light of the reward money and her strained financial situation. Thus, contrary to Bolin's assertions, the redacted cross-examination was "meaningful" and satisfied Bolin's constitutional rights to confrontation. <u>See Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308 (1974) (noting that the primary interest secured by confrontation is the right of cross examination).

Similarly, Bolin's claim that the admission of Coby's 1991 testimony violated his due process rights because her testimony was "frozen in time" is without merit. Bolin argues that, given the passage of time, Coby's testimony should be excluded in its entirety. Bolin does not offer any legal argument in support of this theory and simply claims that the fifteen-year-old crossexamination "does not allow for an adversarial testing of the witness and her credibility." Initial Brief at 27-28. As has been demonstrated, Bolin's defense counsel thoroughly examined Coby's observations and credibility during the cross-examination of Coby at Bolin's 1991 trial for the same murder.

Bolin further alleges that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting Coby's testimony regarding her observations in violation of the spousal privilege contained in Florida Statutes, section 90.504(1). As this Court has already

decided this issue adversely to Bolin in his two prior appeals, the law of the case doctrine precludes relief on the instant claim. See Bolin I, 650 So. 2d at 23 ("The testimony of Bolin's former spouse regarding her observations of Bolin's alleged criminal activity was admissible and may be admitted in the new trial."); Bolin II, 793 So. 2d at 897 n.3 ("The spousal privilege only applies to confidential communications. See § 90.504(1), Fla. Stat. (1985). Therefore, while Coby's testimony regarding Bolin's confidential statements to her is privileged, Coby's testimony regarding what she witnessed is not privileged."); see also Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101, 106 (Fla. 2001) ("[u]nder the law of the case doctrine, a trial court is bound to follow prior rulings of the appellate court as long as the facts on which such decision are based continue to be the facts of the case.").

Although Bolin recognizes that Florida statutory law and this Court's prior decisions do not support his position, he urges this Court to reconsider its prior decisions holding that the spousal privilege only applies to communication between spouses. <u>See Kerlin v. State</u>, 352 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1977) (holding that the privilege for communications between husband and wife does not extend to observations of criminal conduct); <u>Bolin I</u>, <u>supra; Bolin II</u>, <u>supra</u>. Clearly, the statutory language of section 90.504(1) allows a spouse to testify to the observations of acts of another spouse. <u>See</u> § 90.504(1), Fla. Stat. (2005) (stating that a spouse has a privilege to prevent another spouse from disclosing "communications which were intended to be made in confidence between the spouses"). Appellant's attempt to have this Court rewrite section 90.504 to include the exclusion of "acts" rather than "communication" is unavailing and should be rejected by this Court. <u>See Kasischke v. State</u>, 991 So. 2d 803, 810 (Fla. 2008) ("The Legislature did not include such language, and we cannot add it on our own.") (citing <u>State v. City of Fort</u> <u>Pierce</u>, 88 So. 2d 135, 137 (Fla. 1956) ("It is not the province of this Court to rewrite the acts of the Legislature.")). Because the trial court acted within its discretion and properly admitted Coby's 1991 redacted testimony at Bolin's trial, this Court should deny the instant claim.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING A PORTION OF APPELLANT'S SUICIDE LETTER INTO EVIDENCE.

In his second issue, Bolin repeats the same exact arguments presented and rejected in the interlocutory appeal before the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Bolin</u>, 693 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 697 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1997), which occurred prior to Bolin's second trial in this case. Now, after his third trial, Bolin claims that the lower court erroneously denied his motion to suppress any testimony regarding a suicide note found in Bolin's jail cell after his attempted suicide.⁶

Bolin had filed a motion to suppress the suicide note prior to his second trial in 1995, and after the court conducted a hearing on the motion on August 3, 1995, the trial court granted the motion to suppress. The State filed an interlocutory appeal,

⁶ As will be set forth in more detail <u>infra</u>, Appellant did not timely file a motion to suppress in this case until *after* the guilt phase. Prior to trial, the State filed a motion to admit the evidence from the suicide letter and the trial court granted the motion after defense counsel indicated that he had no objection. At the beginning of the trial, defense counsel briefly mentioned getting copies of the court's orders for his client from the previous hearings where counsel had "renewed some of the previous motions." (V14:3-4). When the State introduced the testimony regarding the letter during Colonel Terry's testimony, defense counsel "renewed" his objection. (V17:545-48).

and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed and found that the seizure of the suicide note was not improper. <u>Bolin</u>, 693 So. 2d at 583-85. After Bolin's second trial, this Court reversed Bolin's conviction in <u>Bolin II</u> and remanded for the instant trial. In remanding for a new trial, this Court specifically stated that it agreed with the Second District Court of Appeal "that the letter did not have to be suppressed." <u>Bolin II</u>, 793 So. 2d at 898. Appellant now seeks a new trial based on an alleged error by the trial court in following the district court of appeal's, and this Court's, finding that the letter was admissible.

On February 8, 2006, prior to the instant trial, the State filed a motion to admit evidence that Bolin had attempted suicide while incarcerated at the Hillsborough County Jail, as well as a portion of his suicide note found in his cell. (V8:1538-48). Specifically, the State sought to introduce the following two sentences of the suicide letter addressed to Colonel Gary Terry:

If there's ever anything else that you really want to know about then you'll have to ask Cheryl Jo [Coby] because she knew just about everything that I was ever a part of. She knew about this homicide which I'm charged with because it was her idea on how to dump the body out.

(V8:1538). On May 8, 2006, when the trial court addressed the State's motion to admit the evidence in the instant case, defense counsel did not object, and the trial judge granted the motion "by stipulation." (V8:1551; V13:17-18).⁷

At trial, when the State called Colonel Gary Terry to testify regarding the circumstances of finding Bolin's suicide letter addressed to him and to the two sentences contained in the letter, defense counsel stated that he was "renew[ing] the objection that was previously made in regards to the admission of the letter. There was a motion [to] suppress involved in the matter and it was denied." (V17:545-48). Defense counsel may have been referring to a motion to suppress he filed (before the same trial judge) in Bolin's separate homicide case involving victim Natalie Holley (Case No. 90-CF-11822), which was heard on September 28, 2005. (SV32:275-92). However, in the instant case, defense counsel had not filed a motion to suppress at the time of Colonel Terry's testimony and his "renewed objection."⁸

⁷ The trial judge in the instant case, who also presided over Bolin's other Hillsborough County murder case involving victim Natalie Holley (Case No. 90-CF-11822), heard brief argument on a motion to suppress Bolin had apparently filed in the Holley case on September 28, 2005. (SV32:275-92).

⁸ On November 6, 2006, *after* the jury had convicted Bolin in the instant case and prior to the start of the penalty phase, defense counsel re-filed the exact same motion to suppress which had been filed in this case prior to Bolin's second trial in

Nevertheless, the trial judge overruled defense counsel's objection given the "same rulings" and allowed Colonel Terry to testify that he found the suicide letter in Bolin's cell after his attempted suicide and the State introduced into evidence the stamped envelope addressed to Colonel Terry and the two-sentence excerpt of the letter indicating that Terry should talk to Cheryl Coby about the homicide because she knew about it as it was her idea on how to dump the body. (V17:543-48; V12:2144, 2210).

Bolin now asserts on appeal that the trial court erred in admitting this evidence, and as a preliminary matter, contends that the "law of the case" doctrine does not preclude review of this claim despite the fact that the Second District Court of Appeal rejected the exact arguments contained in Appellant's brief in an interlocutory appeal, and this Court expressed agreement with that ruling. In <u>State v. Bolin</u>, 693 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 697 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1997), the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling suppressing the evidence from the letter and found that Bolin did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his

^{1995. (}V9:1692-99; SV1:1-5). The motion to suppress contained in Volume 9 at 1692-99 is an incorrect version of the motion. The complete motion to suppress is contained in Supplemental Volume 1 at 1-5.

cell and therefore the letter should not have been suppressed. In Bolin II, this Court addressed the issue of whether Bolin had voluntarily waived his spousal privilege in the suicide letter when he instructed Colonel Terry to talk to his wife Cheryl Coby about the murder. This Court found that the letter did not constitute a valid waiver of the spousal privilege and reversed Bolin's conviction and remanded for a new trial because Coby had privileged spousal communications testified to when she discussed Bolin's confession. In remanding for a new trial, this Court specifically noted that the Second District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that the letter did not have to be suppressed, Bolin II, 793 So. 2d at 898, and thus, the State could introduce this evidence from the letter at the instant trial, but could not introduce Coby's privileged spousal communications.

Because this issue has already been fully litigated in the Second District Court of Appeal, and this Court has agreed with the district court's ruling, the State submits that the "law of the case" doctrine precludes further review of this issue. <u>See Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano</u>, 801 So. 2d 101, 106 (Fla. 2001) (recognizing that "[u]nder the law of the case doctrine, a trial court is bound to follow prior rulings of the appellate court as long as the facts on which such decision are based continue to be the facts of the case"). Relying on Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984), Appellant asserts that the "'law of the case' doctrine does not bar reconsideration in a capital case of a suppression issue already decided by a district court of appeal." Initial Brief of Appellant at 42. This Court in Preston stated that reconsideration of a district court of appeal's decision is warranted "only in exceptional circumstances and where reliance on the previous decision would result in manifest injustice." Id. at 942. In Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994), the defendant, on appeal from a retrial, attempted to relitigate a suppression issue which a majority of this Court had previously addressed in his first appeal. Applying the "law of the case" doctrine, this Court rejected his claim and noted that "all points of law which have been previously adjudicated by a majority of this Court may be reconsidered only where a subsequent hearing or trial develops changes in material the evidence, or where exceptional circumstances exist whereby reliance upon the previous decision would result in manifest injustice." Id. at 1364 (emphasis added).

Similar to the situation in <u>Henry</u>, a majority of this Court has already analyzed the circumstances surrounding the suicide letter and expressed agreement with the Second District Court of

Appeal's decision admitting the letter. As there were no additional facts developed on this issue at the present trial and no manifest injustice in admitting the letter, the trial court was bound by the "law of the case" doctrine to follow the district court of appeal's ruling and this Court's subsequent pronouncement finding the letter admissible at Bolin's trial.

Although this Court should not revisit the trial court's discretionary ruling on the admissibility of this evidence given the "law of the case" doctrine, the State submits Bolin has failed to establish any abuse of the court's discretion in admitting the two sentences from his suicide letter.⁹ Appellant speculates in his brief that "[p]erhaps because this was the third trial and because the Second District Court of Appeal had already rejected the issue, there was no suppression hearing – just a summation of the facts by the defense trial counsel (not disputed by the prosecutor) and argument." Initial Brief of Appellant at 43. Contrary to this statement, there was never any "summation" of the facts by defense counsel in the instant case. As previously noted, the only time the trial court addressed this issue in the instant case prior to Bolin's trial was when

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